STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Aiken County

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KELVIN JONES,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO 2020-000653

OPINION NO. 2020-UP-018 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed January 29, 2020)

\_\_\_\_\_  
BRIEF OF PETITIONER  
\_\_\_\_\_

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

Apr 08 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the issue of whether the trial judge erred in refusing to suppress drugs seized as the result of a search warrant lacking probable cause was not preserved for appellate review?

## STATEMENT

In January of 2012, the Aiken County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Kelvin Jones, for trafficking cocaine, possession with intent to distribute cocaine within proximity of a park and possession of ecstasy, indictments #2012-GS-02-132, 133, 134. In 2014, the State obtained superseding indictment #2014-GS-02-1182 for trafficking cocaine. On August 11, 2014, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Edgar Dickson and moved for a change of venue and moved to suppress drugs seized. Mario Pacella, Alexandra Benevento and Bakari Sellers represented Petitioner at the hearing. The case was prosecuted by the South Carolina Attorney General's office because of a conflict. Solicitor Strom Thurmond, Jr. and another lawyer from the Second Circuit Solicitor's Office were doing a "ride along" with law enforcement when the search warrant in the present case was executed. Judge Dickson granted the change of venue motion but denied the motion to suppress. (R. p. 10, Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress in Stipulation).

On February 17, 2015, Petitioner pled guilty to the possession of ecstasy charge, indictment #2012-GS-02-134, and proceeded to jury trial for the trafficking and proximity charges, indictments #2014-GS-02-1182 and #2012-GS-02-133. Both the plea and the trial took place in Dorchester County before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. Alexandra Benevento and Bakari Sellers represented Petitioner at the plea and trial. Megan Burchstead and Michael Ross, both of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented the State. The jury returned verdicts of guilty and Judge McIntosh sentenced Petitioner to twenty-five (25) years for trafficking, ten (10) years concurrent for the proximity charge, and one year concurrent for the ecstasy charge.

On February 24, 2015, Petitioner timely filed a timely notice of intent to appeal. On February 26, 2015, two days after the notice of intent to appeal was filed, Judge McIntosh contacted Petitioner's trial counsel, Bakari Sellers, along with Assistant Attorney General Michael Ross and disclosed to the parties that it had come to his attention that the BEST bag containing the cocaine had been opened during jury deliberations. (R. p. 470-493; R. p. 494). On that same day, defense counsel Sellers filed a motion for a mistrial based on the information disclosed by Judge McIntosh.

On April 16, 2015, a hearing was held before Judge McIntosh on Petitioner's motion for a mistrial. After hearing from the parties, Judge McIntosh ultimately issued a written order filed June 15, 2015. In his order, Judge McIntosh found there was "a need to further investigate the extent of any actions on the part of the jurors which led to the opening of the 'BEST Kit' containing the drug evidence in this case." The judge indicated that "[s]uch investigation is necessary to determine whether there was any improper influence upon the jurors, or whether there was any resulting prejudice to the defendant." The judge ordered that a qualified individual at SLED examine the drug evidence to determine whether the evidence was accessed, handled, or tampered with by the jury during its deliberations. The judge further ordered that SLED report its findings concerning the drug evidence to the court as soon as such findings became available. (R. p. 494).

On September 18, 2015, Petitioner moved to dismiss the direct appeal without prejudice pending the SLED investigation and a ruling on Petitioner's motion for a mistrial. On November 25, 2015, the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal without prejudice to allow Judge McIntosh to rule on the post-trial motion. (R. p. 497). On April 4, 2016, Petitioner filed a

motion for a new trial based on the State's failure to disclose that a complaint had been filed against the detective who obtained and executed the search warrant. (R. p. 498).

On July 6, 2016, Judge McIntosh held a hearing in Anderson County on the two outstanding motions. In regard to the drug evidence, Judge McIntosh requested that SLED reweigh the drugs. In regard to the non-disclosed complaint, the judge asked for briefs from both sides. In an order signed July 22, 2016, Judge McIntosh denied both motions. (R. p. 550). A motion for relief from judgment was filed on August 16, 2016, and then denied on August 25, 2016. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on September 2, 2016, and the direct appeal perfected. On January 29, 2020, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions. State v. Jones, Op. No. 2020-UP-018 (S.C.Ct.App. filed January 29, 2020). (App. p. 1-4). A timely petition for rehearing was filed and then denied on March 27, 2020. (App. pp.5-31). The petition for writ of certiorari was filed on April 27, 2020. The State filed a return on July 1, 2020. On March 9, 2021, this Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari as to issue one. This brief of Petitioner follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“On appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, ... this Court [the appellate court] reviews questions of law de novo.’ State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014). As to a circuit court’s finding of fact, we must affirm ‘if there is any evidence to support it,” and “may reverse only for clear error.’ State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 87, 736 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2012).” State v. Bash, 419 S.C. 263, 268, 797 S.E.2d 721, 723–24 (2017). This deferential standard of review does not bar the appellate court from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge’s decision is supported by the evidence. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010).

## ARGUMENT

- 1. The Court of Appeals erred in finding that the issue of whether the trial judge erred in refusing to suppress drugs seized as the result of a search warrant lacking probable cause was not preserved for appellate review.**

On April 19, 2011, Detective John C. Medlin of the Aiken Department of Public Safety requested a search warrant from a magistrate for a residence located at 462 Morgan Street NW, in Aiken, South Carolina. The affidavit in support of the search warrant in the case was based in large part on a trash pull. The affidavit provides:

Det. Sawyer received complaints of short-term traffic at 462 Morgan St NW that is consistent with the sale of narcotics. On April 18, 2011 Det. Medlin coordinated with Bill Martin, Solid Waste Supervisor with the Aiken Department of Public Works, to collect trash from 462 Morgan St NW. Mr. Martin did so on Monday, April 18, 2011, which is the normal trash collection day for that residence. Mr. Martin found the can and contents at the curb beside the driveway in a manner consistent with the trash being ready for collection. Mr. Martin brought the can and the contents to Det. Medlin at the ADPS headquarters. Det. Medlin and Det. Sawyer searched the contents of the can and found the following items: 1 – the burnt remains of a cigar that contained a green leafy material believed to be marijuana; 2-numerous twisted and torn baggies (indicating the packaging of marijuana for resale); 3 – empty cigar tube wrappers; 4 – cigars that had been torn open to remove the tobacco (a common tactic for smoking marijuana covertly); 5 – mail addressed to 462 Morgan St. NW Aiken SC. Based on my experience and training, the items listed indicate the use and repackaging of narcotics for resale. Detective Royster, a certified marijuana analyst, tested the plant material found in the trash and confirmed it to be marijuana. This officer verily believes that probable cause exists as to the presence of narcotics at this residence. See Attachment B for photographs of the items found. (Exhibit #3 attached).

(R. p. 588). The affidavit was not supplemented with sworn verbal testimony. (R. p. 563).

On April 21, 2011, officers with the Aiken Department of Public Safety, including Detective Medlin and Captain Sawyer, executed the search warrant. According to Captain

Sawyer, prior to entering the house, he observed Petitioner enter the house carrying a blue sling backpack. (R. p. 117, lines 13-22). Officers entered the house five to seven minutes later. (R. p. 156, lines 16-20). Once inside the house officers found Ricky Lloyd in the bathroom attempting to flush a white powder substance. (R. p. 247, lines 10-21). Lloyd also had cash and scales. (R. p. 247, lines 23-25). Officers found Petitioner in the kitchen. (R. p. 248, lines 1-7). Captain Sawyer admitted that there were four to five other adults and a few juveniles in the house when the officers entered. (R. p. 157, lines 11-20). In another room under a couch Detective Medlin found a handgun, a pickle jar with a green leafy substance in it, cash and a blue string bag. (R. p. 227, line 17 – p. 228, lines 1-12). Inside the blue string bag officers found three ziplock bags with a white powder material and a set of scales. (R. p. 228, lines 13-19). According to Captain Sawyer, Petitioner was wearing this blue sling bag earlier. (R. p. 140, lines 7-10). The room where officers found the white powder substance under the couch was closer to the bathroom where they found Lloyd than the kitchen where they found Petitioner. (R. p. 160, lines 21-25).

Prior to trial, on August 11, 2014, Petitioner submitted a written motion to suppress. (R. p. 1). On that same day the Honorable Edgar Dickson heard the motion to suppress as well as a motion for change of venue. Judge Dickson granted the change of venue motion but, in a written order, denied the motion to suppress. (R. p. 10, Written Order Denying Motion to Suppress). A portion of the August 11, 2014, hearing was produced and made a part of the record on appeal. (R. p. 14-27). The portion of the transcript dealing with the suppression motion, however, was not available. (R. p. 560-561, Official Letter from Court Reporter). For purposes of the appeal, the parties stipulated as to the arguments made at the suppression hearing. (R. p. 562). The stipulation included nine agreed points, the written motion to suppress

as exhibit #1, the search warrant, affidavit in support and attached exhibits, as exhibit #2 and Judge Dickson's written motion denying the motion to suppress as exhibit. #3. (R. p. 562-586).

The trial was held six months later on February 17, 2015, before a different judge, the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. Judge McIntosh was aware of the previous order by Judge Dickson denying the motion to suppress. (R. p. 37, lines 1-8). Petitioner renewed the objection to the order denying the motion to suppress. (R. p. 37, lines 11-15). Petitioner again renewed the objection to the evidence and the motion to suppress prior to opening statements. (R. p. 82, line 16 – p. 83, lines 1-7). The judge ruled, "All right. Very Good. I note that objection. The ruling will stand as is." (R. p. 83, lines 8-9). When the State moved to admit the drugs in evidence as State's Exhibit #22, Petitioner did not object. (R. p. 286, lines 8-13). Petitioner renewed the objection at the close of the State's case. (R. p. 344, lines 12-17).

#### **A. Error Preservation**

Judge Dickson's ruling on the motion to suppress was a final ruling and Petitioner was not required to object when the drugs were admitted in evidence in order for the issue to be preserved for appellate review. Petitioner renewed the motion to suppress prior to trial and the trial judge, Judge McIntosh, noted the objection and stated that Judge Dickson's ruling would stand. (R. p. 82, line 16 – p. 83, lines 1-9). The trial judge, Judge McIntosh, did not hear the motion to suppress and would not have changed Judge Dickson's ruling without hearing the motion.

In State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 646–47, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012), the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote:

A ruling in limine is not final; unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling procured, the issue is not preserved for

review. See State v. Wannamaker, 346 S.C. 495, 499, 552 S.E.2d 284, 286 (2001). An exception to this rule is when the motion in limine is made “immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001). The South Carolina Supreme Court expanded this exception in State v. Wiles,<sup>1</sup> holding that even when the evidence does not immediately follow the motion in limine, if the trial court clearly indicates its ruling is final, rather than preliminary, the issue is preserved for appellate review. 383 S.C. 151, 157, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009). In Wiles, the trial court had commented to the jury about the evidence that was the subject of the motion in limine before any evidence was admitted.Id.

Judge Dickson’s ruling on the motion to suppress was a final ruling and the issue is preserved for appellate review. Under the very narrow and specific facts of this case where the pre-trial ruling was a final ruling by a judge who only heard the pre-trial motion and did not preside over the trial, the admission of the challenged evidence without objection did not waive the issue. The present case is distinguished from State v. Dicapua, 383 S.C. 394, 680 S.E.2d 292 (2009), where there was no indication that the pre-trial ruling was a final ruling.

The Court of Appeals found that the issue was not preserved for appellate review writing:

The issue of whether the trial court erred when refusing to suppress the drugs is not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Sweet, 374 S.C. 1, 5, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2007) (“To properly preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court.”); State v. Stokes, 339 S.C. 154, 163, 528 S.E.2d 430, 434 (Ct. App. 2000) (“Merely raising an argument in *limine* does not preserve the issue for appellate review.”); State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 646, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012) (“A ruling in *limine* is not final; unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling procured, the issue is not preserved for review.”); id. at 647, 725 S.E.2d at 733 (“[W]hen the evidence does not immediately follow the motion in *limine*, if the trial court clearly indicates its ruling is final, rather than preliminary, the issue is preserved for appellate review.”).

State v. Kelvin Jones, Op. No. 2020-UP-018 (S.C.Ct.App. filed January 29, 2020). (App. p. 2).

---

<sup>1</sup> 383 S.C. 151, 679 S.E.2d 172 (2009).

The Court of Appeals overlooked the fact that Judge Dickson's ruling was final. As discussed above, the motion to suppress was heard by Judge Dickson on August 11, 2014, six months before the trial in front of Judge McIntosh on February 17, 2015. Judge McIntosh did not hear the motion and would not have overruled the finding made by Judge Dickson. See Rule 4(b), SCRCrimP (Subsequent Applications for Order After Refusal. If any motion be made to any judge and be denied, in whole or in part, or be granted conditionally, no subsequent motion upon the same set of facts shall be made to any other judge in that action. If upon such subsequent motion any order be made, it shall be void.). Judge Dickson's ruling was final and the issue is preserved for appellate review.

In State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 156–57, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009)(n. 4 omitted), this Court wrote:

Generally, a motion *in limine* is not a final determination; a contemporaneous objection must be made when the evidence is introduced. State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. at 642, 541 S.E.2d at 840. There is an exception to this general rule when a ruling on the motion *in limine* is made “immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question.” *Id.* This exception is based on the fact that when the trial court's ruling is not preliminary, but instead is clearly a final ruling, there is no need to renew the objection. *Id.* (citing State v. Mueller, 319 S.C. 266, 268–69, 460 S.E.2d 409, 410 (Ct.App.1995)).

In the instant case, the evidence was not immediately introduced after the motion *in limine*. Nonetheless, by his actions, the trial judge clearly indicated that his ruling was a final, rather than preliminary, one because he commented **to the jury** about petitioner's escape before any evidence was admitted.

In the present case the trial judge, Judge McIntosh, stated that Judge Dickson's denial of the motion to suppress would stand, a clear indication that Judge Dickson's ruling was a final ruling. (R. p. 82, line 16 – p. 83, lines 1-9). The final ruling exception discussed in Wiles applies in the present case and Petitioner was not required to renew the objection when the drugs were

admitted in evidence. The issue is preserved for review. The Court of Appeals erred in finding that the issue was not preserved.

**B. The court erred in refusing to suppress drugs seized as the result of a search warrant lacking probable cause.**

During the pre-trial hearing on August 11, 2014, Petitioner moved to suppress the drugs found as a result of the execution of the search warrant. Petitioner argued that the affidavit in support of the search warrant lacked probable cause. First, the affidavit failed to establish the reliability of the complaints received by Captain Sawyer. (R. p. 3-5). The affidavit failed to indicate the basis for any conclusion that the complaints of short-term traffic were consistent with narcotics sales. (R. p. 5). The affidavit failed to provide a time frame in regard to the short-term traffic. (R. p. 5). Second, the items recovered from the single trash pull did not provide probable cause to believe that narcotics would be found inside the house. (R. p. 5-8). Additionally, Petitioner argued that the good faith exception to the requirement of a warrant based on probable cause did not apply. (R. p. 8-9).

The judge denied the motion to suppress writing, “Although the reliability of the tipsters was never established, the officers corroborated the tip by finding twisted, torn baggies and the remnants of marijuana cigars in the trash. See State v. Rutledge, 644 S.E.2d 789 (Ct.App. 2007)(Finding probable cause for search warrant where a trash pull corroborated a tip). Therefore, probable cause existed for the magistrate to issue the warrant.” (R. p. 10-12). There was, however, no tip to corroborate. The affidavit in support of the search warrant indicates “complaints of short-term traffic at \*\* Morgan St. NW that is consistent with the sale of narcotics.” (R. p. 11). There was not a tip that drugs were inside the house or that drugs were being sold from the house. There was not a tip that anybody ever saw drugs inside the house.

The only reference to narcotics with regard to the anonymous complaints is the detective's mere conclusory statement that the short-term traffic is consistent with narcotics sales. The officers did not conduct surveillance to try and verify the complaints of short-term traffic. The magistrate was only presented with anonymous complaints of short-term traffic without a time frame and some baggies and remnants of marijuana cigars collected from the trash pull. The State failed to present the magistrate with a substantial basis for reaching his probable cause determination. The affidavit in support of the search warrant lacked probable cause. Judge Dickson erred in denying the motion to suppress.

Both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 10 of the South Carolina Constitution protect citizens from unreasonable searches and seizures. Both constitutions provide that search warrants may not be issued except upon "probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation," and particularly describing the place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized. State v. Dunbar, 361 S.C. 240, 246, 603 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct. App. 2004); see also State v. Weston, 329 S.C. 287, 290, 494 S.E.2d 801, 802 (1997) ("A search warrant may issue only upon a finding of probable cause.").

In State v. Kinloch, 410 S.C. 612, 616–17, 767 S.E.2d 153, 155 (2014)(fn #4 omitted), this Court wrote:

The Fourth Amendment protects against unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. A search or seizure does not violate the Fourth Amendment if it is authorized by a warrant that is supported by probable cause. Id.; see State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 50, 625 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2006), cert. denied, 555 U.S. 1074, 129 S.Ct. 733, 172 L.Ed.2d 735 (2008). A warrant is supported by probable cause if, given the totality of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 50, 625 S.E.2d at 221 (citing Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 76 L.Ed.2d 527 (1983)).

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