STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal From Aiken County
Hon. R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2020-000653

RECEIVED

May 17 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Kelvin Jones,

Petitioner.

Opinion No. 2020-UP-018 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 29, 2020)

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MICHAEL D. ROSS
Assistant Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar Number 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **Initially, the issue raised by Petitioner is not properly preserved for review on appeal. Even if it could be preserved for review, the issue was expressly waived by Petitioner’s counsel at trial. Further, even if this Court excuses the procedural defects, the trial court properly denied Petitioner’s motion to suppress drugs seized as a result of a search warrant because the magistrate had a substantial basis for finding the warrant supported by probable cause. Finally, even if the affidavit lacked probable cause, the officers operated in an objectively reasonable manner and exclusion was not warranted.**

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed Petitioner’s convictions and sentences. The trial court properly denied Petitioner’s motion to suppress the drugs seized as a result of a search warrant because the warrant was supported by an affidavit which established probable cause for believing drugs would be located in the residence to be searched. Additionally, as the Court of Appeals found, the issue is not properly preserved for review on appeal, and even if preserved, the issue was expressly waived by Petitioner’s counsel at trial when he responded: “No objection” after the trial court asked for any objections to the admission of the evidence.

Relevant Background

Prior to trial, Petitioner moved to suppress evidence seized pursuant to the search warrant, arguing a lack of probable cause. (R. 1-9). Petitioner noted that the affidavit presented in support of the warrant did not address the reliability of the tipsters who initially raised concerns to the police. (R. 3-5). Instead, it simply notes that the detective “received complaints of short-term traffic at [the residence] that is consistent with drug sales.” (R. 11). However, the affidavit also recounts a “trash pull”¹ that the detective conducted after receiving the tips. (R. 11). The detective coordinated with the garbage collector to obtain the trash that had been

¹ See California v. Greenwood, 486 U.S. 35, 37 (1988) (holding that the Fourth Amendment does not prohibit the warrantless search and seizure of garbage left for collection outside the curtilage of a home).

placed outside the residence for collection. (R. 11). Inside the can, the detective found marijuana in a cigar butt, “numerous twisted and torn baggies (indicating the packaging of marijuana for resale,” and mail addressed to the residence. (R. 11). Additionally, the detective recovered cigars that had been torn open, presumably to replace tobacco with marijuana. (R. 11). According to the affidavit, the trash pull occurred the day before the detective sought the search warrant. (R. 563). The Affidavit provided:

Det. Sawyer received complaints of short-term traffic at 462 Morgan St NW that is consistent with the sale of narcotics. On April 18, 2011 Det. Medlin coordinated with Bill Martin, Solid Waste Supervisor with the Aiken Department of Public Works, to collect trash from 462 Morgan St NW. Mr. Martin did so on Monday, April 18, 2011, which is the normal trash collection day for that residence. Mr. Martin found the can and contents at the curb beside the driveway in a manner consistent with the trash being ready for collection. Mr. Martin brought the can and the contents to Det. Medlin at the ADPS headquarters. Det. Medlin and Det. Sawyer searched the contents of the can and found the following items: 1- the burnt remains of a cigar that contained a green leafy material believed to be marijuana; 2-numerous twisted and torn baggies (indicating the packaging of marijuana for resale); 3 - empty cigar tube wrappers; 4 - cigars that had been torn open to remove the tobacco (a common tactic for smoking marijuana covertly); 5 - mail addressed to 462 Morgan St. NW Aiken SC. Based on my experience and training, the items listed indicate the use and repackaging of narcotics for resale. Detective Royster, a certified marijuana analyst, tested the plant material found in the trash and confirmed it to be marijuana. This officer verily believes that probable cause exists as to the presence of narcotics at this residence. See Attachment B for photographs of the items found.

(R. 588).

After an evidentiary hearing on the issue, the circuit court denied Petitioner’s motion to suppress. (R. 10-12). The court held that although the affidavit did not establish the reliability of the tipsters, the detective’s trash pull corroborated the suspicion that drugs were being sold in the house. (R. 11-12). As such, probable cause existed for the magistrate to issue the search

warrant. (R. 12). In support of its analysis, the court specifically cited State v. Rutledge, 373 S.C. 312, 644 S.E.2d 789 (Ct. App. 2007) (holding that probable cause existed where law enforcement corroborated an anonymous tip, in part, through a trash pull).

The case subsequently proceeded to trial in front of a different circuit court judge. After jury selection, Petitioner informed the court that he would renew the objections to the introduction of evidence seized pursuant to the search warrant. (R. 37, l. 11-15). The court replied, “*I think if you don’t, you’ll waive them.*” (R. 37, l. 16-17)(emphasis added). Petitioner subsequently clarified that his objection covered not only the sufficiency of the warrant, but also the legality of the initial trash pull. (R. 82-83). The court responded, “I note that objection. The ruling will stand as is. Are you otherwise ready to go?” (R. 83, l. 8-10). The parties then proceeded with opening statements.

Nevertheless, when the State offered the evidence seized pursuant to the search warrant, Petitioner failed to renew his objections. The court specifically asked whether Petitioner had any objections when the State offered: crime scene photos taken during the search warrant (R. 134), the sling bag containing the cocaine (R. 144), a firearm (R. 244-45), and the cocaine itself. (R. 286). On each occasion, Petitioner indicated he had no objection to the introduction of the evidence. (R. 134, 144, 244-45, 286). Petitioner now argues that an objection prior to the introduction of these pieces of evidence was unnecessary. (Pet. 18-19).

Preservation

Generally, in order to preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must make “a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court.” State v. Sweet, 374 S.C.1, 5, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2007). “In most cases, [m]aking a motion *in limine* to exclude evidence at the beginning of trial does not preserve an issue for review because a motion *in limine* is not a

final determination. The moving party, therefore, must make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is introduced.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (quoting State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 479 S.E.2d 57 (1996)). There is an exception: “where a judge makes a ruling on the admission of evidence on the record immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question, the aggrieved party does not need to renew the objection.” Id.

The Forrester Court, quoting State v. Mueller, 319 S.C. 266, 268-69, 460 S.E.2d 409, 410 (Ct. App. 1995), further explained:

Because no evidence was presented between the ruling and [the] testimony, there was no basis for the trial court to change its ruling. Thus, . . . [the] motion was not a motion in limine. The trial court’s ruling in this instance was in no way preliminary, but to the contrary, was a final ruling. Accordingly, [the defendant] was not required to renew her objection to the admission of the testimony in order to preserve the issue for appeal.

Id. In Forrester, “the witness **introducing the cocaine** for the state was the initial witness in the trial.” Id. (emphasis added). The Court further noted: “No evidence was taken between the trial court’s ruling on the admission of the cocaine and its introduction.” Id. at 642–43, 541 S.E.2d at 840.

It was clear Judge McIntosh considered Judge Dickson’s ruling to be a preliminary ruling as he explained to Petitioner’s counsel their need to object or else the issue would be waived. (R.37). When Petitioner’s counsel again addressed the suppression, the court responded: “I note that objection. The ruling will stand as is.” (R.83). This statement is not enough to constitute a final ruling on the issue, as it could be referencing his prior admonition that Petitioner would waive any issue if he did not “restor[e] our objection . . . throughout the pendency” of the trial. (R.37). It remained a preliminary, in limine ruling, and because the first witness was not the

witness who introduced the evidence sought to be suppressed, a contemporaneous objection was required. See State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 32, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999).

Waiver

Even if the issue could be construed as preserved, the issue was expressly waived by Petitioner's counsel. Counsel for Petitioner repeatedly told the court that he had "no objection" when the State offered the exhibits into evidence and the court questioned: "Any objection?" (R. 134, l. 13; 144, l. 21; 245, l. 1; 286, l. 11). Replying "no objection" goes beyond a simple failure to preserve an issue. It constitutes an express waiver of the issue and argument made *in limine*. See Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011)("When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review."); State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 646 S.E.2d 150 (Ct. App. 2007)(holding that a defendant waived an objection to a videotape, previously raised *in limine*, by replying "no objection" when the State offered the videotape into evidence).²

The trial court in this case did not ask whether there were "any **additional** objections;" instead, he simply asked: "Any objection" when the State sought to introduce the evidence. The distinction matters because had the trial court asked "any additional objections" it would have been a clear indication he was acknowledging the prior ruling on the suppression was a final ruling and Petitioner's counsel did not need to continue to object. By asking "any objection" the

² Petitioner attempts to distinguish Dicapua by arguing the issue must have only received a preliminary ruling and not a final ruling when counsel indicated no objection to the admission of the videotape. However, the Court would not have needed to address the bar as waiver and instead would have merely indicated a preliminary ruling was not renewed with a contemporaneous objection so that the issue was not preserved. By addressing it as waiver, the Court was making clear that the ruling a statement of "no objection" waived the right to raise the issue on appeal applied no matter the nature of the prior ruling.

court is not excluding the need for counsel to continue to raise the objection related to the suppression motion.

Additionally, the response by Petitioner's counsel is significant. He did not respond: "No additional objections" instead he merely responded: "No objection, Your Honor." He did not make any effort to ensure the trial court was aware of his prior suppression request or that he was still continuing that objection to the evidence. It is more likely the trial court believed counsel for Petitioner had changed his mind regarding the merits of his prior arguments after hearing the detailed testimony from the State's witnesses and was not renewing his objections.

Even if the trial court's actions are interpreted as indicating the pre-trial ruling was final, Petitioner's response waived the argument for appellate review. Other states agree. See Livingston v. Greyhound Lines Inc., 208 A.3d 1122, 1136 (Pa. Super. 2019) (citing Jones v. Ott, 191 A.3d 782, 791-92 (Pa. 2018)) ("Statements by a party's counsel that the party has no objection to a ruling constitute an affirmative waiver that bars the party from raising that issue in post-trial motions or on appeal, even if the party had previously fully raised and preserved the issue."); see also, Burns v. Taylor, 589 S.W.3d 614, 625 (Mo. Ct. App. 2019) (finding affirmatively stating that there was no objection to the admission of an exhibit waived even plain error review); Thomas v. State, 408 S.W.3d 877, 884 (Tex. Crim. App. 2013) ("Our case law makes it clear that a statement of 'no objection' when the complained-of evidence is eventually proffered at trial—at least, without more—will signal to the trial court an unambiguous intent to abandon the claim of error that was earlier preserved for appeal."); Maness v. State, 285 S.E.2d 193, 194 (Ga. Ct. App. 1981) ("When defense counsel stated that he had no objection to the introduction of the evidence, he waived any objection which might have been urged including those contained in the motion to suppress."); Erman v. State, 434 A.2d 1030, 1045 (Md. Ct.

Spec. App. 1981) (concluding that the issue of the admissibility of a statement, for which the court had previously denied a motion to suppress, “ha[d] been waived in that, at trial, [appellant] specifically advised the trial judge that there was no objection to the admission of the statement”).

The Jones Court explained the rationale very clearly:

Trial lawyers waive claims, objections, and issues all the time, and do so upon all sorts of rationales. These waivers may occur for countless strategic or tactical reasons, or may be based upon intervening developments in the trial record, or may reflect simple inadvertence or error. Our trial courts must be free to accept such unequivocal statements of counsel as consequential and binding. Thus, even if Jones had preserved her jury-charge issue in the first instance, her affirmative statement on the record that she no longer had any “issues with the charge” waived any available post-trial claim. When a trial judge directly asks for any objections, counsel must directly state them, explicitly or by reference to prior recorded objections, on pain of waiver.

Jones v. Ott, 191 A.3d 782, 791–92 (Pa. 2018). In this case, when asked if Petitioner’s had: “Any objections” his counsel responded: “No objections, Your Honor.” The trial court should be entitled to accept that statement as a definitive statement that Petitioner was not contesting the admissibility of the evidence, and this Court should find his response constituted a waiver of his ability to raise that issue on appeal.

Merits

Even if the Court were to excuse the failure to preserve this issue for appeal, the trial court did not err in finding the magistrate had a substantial basis upon which to find probable cause and in denying the motion to suppress the fruits of the search warrant. The trial court in this case properly determined the affidavit accompanying the search warrant provided the magistrate with a substantial basis to find probable cause. As a result, the trial court properly denied Petitioner’s motion to suppress the results of the search warrant.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

U.S. Const. amend. IV. “The basic purpose of this Amendment, as recognized in countless decisions of this Court, is to safeguard the privacy and security of individuals against **arbitrary invasions** by governmental officials.” Camara v. Mun. Ct. of City & Cty. of San Francisco, 387 U.S. 523, 528 (1967) (emphasis added). “The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). Thus, only unreasonable searches and seizures are prohibited. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977). Generally, in order for a search to be reasonable under the Fourth Amendment, a law enforcement officer must obtain a search warrant prior to conducting the search. Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. 169, 185, 754 S.E.2d 862, 870 (2014).

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